NC Restaurant & Lodging Association

Guide to NC Hospitality Law

Preface

The North Carolina Restaurant & Lodging Association's (NCRLA) Guide to NC Hospitality Law provides crucial information to help your business run smoothly and saves you time and money. The document is the only publication of its kind geared specifically to your needs, focusing on the state and federal laws and regulations that govern the restaurant and lodging industries in North Carolina.

This publication provides an overview of the laws affecting you as a food service and/or lodging operator. We have attempted to simplify and clarify the often confusing legal and statutory language. To ensure that the information is as accurate as possible, NCRLA updates the Guide to NC Hospitality Law each year to include any changes to laws and regulations.

Throughout this guide, information on both state and federal laws is given. In most cases, when two laws apply, the one most beneficial to the employee is the one to follow. Therefore, except for certain areas (e.g., pension benefits), in most cases, even if an establishment falls under federal guidelines, the state law should be followed when it benefits the employee more.

The Guide to NC Hospitality Law is not intended to provide specific legal advice. Rather, it is a guide and information source for the laws that affect your business. You should rely on your own legal advisor for information on any special legal circumstance that you may face.

We encourage you to call us with your questions. The NCRLA Team is available during normal businesses hours to immediately respond to any questions that you may have.

Understanding and following the law is essential to being successful in this heavily regulated industry. We hope you find this guide an outstanding resource and valuable benefit.

Please call the NCRLA office at (919) 844-0098 with any comments or suggestions for the next edition.

Acknowledgements

The North Carolina Restaurant & Lodging Association wishes to express its gratitude to the following individuals who have generously volunteered their time and expertise in contributing to and reviewing the original Guide to NC Hospitality Law, and those who have helped revise it:

Barry K. Shuster

Editor, Restaurant Startup and Growth Magazine Instructor, Hospitality Law at East Carolina University School of Hospitality Leadership and North Carolina Central University School of Business

Frank Gray

Attorney and Innkeeper and ABC Law Specialist Jordan Price Wall Gray Jones and Carlton, PLLC

E. Hardy Lewis

Attorney and ABC Law Specialist Blanchard, Miller, Lewis & Isley, P.A.

Stephanie Gaston Poley

Attorney and Restaurant & Hospitality Specialist Cranfill Sumner, LLP

Alyssa Barkley

Chief Operating Officer and Food Safety Expert North Carolina Restaurant & Lodging Association

Beth O'Connell

COVID Communications Manager North Carolina Restaurant & Lodging Association

Shannon McGuire

COVID Program Manager North Carolina Restaurant & Lodging Association

Contents

Guide to NC Hospitality Law	1
Preface	1
Employment and Labor Laws	5
At-Will Employment and Employment Discrimination	5
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (amended 1991)	5
The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Title I (ADA)	7
Discrimination Based on Private Health Information	8
The Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA)	9
Immigration Law	10
Negligent Hiring and Retention	10
Protection of Younger Workers	11
Youths Under 18 Years of Age	11
Youths Between 14 and 15 Years of Age	11
Youths 13 Years of Age or Younger	12
The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) of 1994	12
Unionization and Right to Work	13
Wage and Hour	13
Workers' Compensation	14
Tipping	15
General Provisions	15
Tip Credit	15
Service Charges	16
Tip Pooling	17
Tips on Credit or Debit Cards	18
Tip Reporting	18
Authorization for Withholding Wages	19
Occupational Safety and Health	20
Unemployment Insurance	22
Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (WARN) of 1988	22
Employee Drug Testing	23
Potential Liability Pitfalls	23
Practical Points on Drug Testing	23
Important Employee Documentation	24
Employee Handbook (Source: Restaurant Startup & Growth)	24
Employment Applications (Source: Restaurant Startup & Growth)	25
Small Business Exemption	25

Bankruptcy	25
Liquidation	26
Reorganization	26
Subchapter V of Chapter 11 Under the Small Business Reorganization Act (SBRA) of 20	01926
Food and Health Laws	27
Foodborne Illness Reporting	27
NC Food Code Manual & Annexes	28
Food Establishment Inspections	28
Forms, Permit Applications, and Required Signage Documents	28
Plan Unit Review	28
Federal Health Care Reform Legislation	29
ABC Laws and Regulations	29
Avoid 99% of Violations by Following Ten Basic Rules	29
Compliance with Drinking Age Laws	
Intoxicated/Unruly Patrons	
Serving Alcoholic Beverages	
Hours and Days of Sale	
Serving Drinks and Drink Specials/Happy Hours	
Qualifications for Permittees	31
Business Records	32
Purchase Requirements	32
ABC Violations – The Administrative Process	32
ABC Violations – Criminal Charges	
ABC Violations – Other Civil Liability	34
Innkeeper Laws	
North Carolina State Law	34
Chapter 72 – Innkeeper Laws	34
Chapter 130A, Article 8 – Food and Lodging Facilities	35
Swimming Pools	
Chapter 18B - ABC Commission – Permits and Rules	
Appendix	
Appendix A: Employee Handbook Guidance	
Must-Haves	
You Might Consider Adding the Following Erro i	'! Bookmark not defined.

Employment and Labor Laws

At-Will Employment and Employment Discrimination

In North Carolina, unless the employer and employee have entered into an employment contract (that is, a legally enforceable agreement of the terms and conditions of employment), employees are hired and terminated *"at-will."* In other words, the employer is free to decide which candidates to hire and to reject all others, for any reason that suits the employer. Likewise, the employee is free to decide whom they want to work for and the terms of employment.

Moreover, the employer is free to decide at any time to promote, reward, demote, or dismiss any employee already working for the employer, for any reason or for no reason at all.

That said, employers may not exercise any of these rights if *doing so violates equal employment opportunity laws.*

The U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) was established via the Civil Rights Act of 1964 to administer and enforce civil rights laws against workplace discrimination. All states are required to comply with federal equal employment opportunity (EEO) laws. States and municipalities can expand protections to their citizens. North Carolina follows federal law for the most part. *Be aware that laws and regulations are subject to change.*

The following sections cover various anti-discrimination laws that must all be understood and followed to remain in compliance.

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Amended 1991)

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act makes it unlawful for employers with 15 or more employees "to discriminate against any individual with respect to their compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, gender identity, and sexual orientation), national origin, age (40 or older), disability, or genetic information" 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1).

The **Pregnancy Discrimination Act** expanded Title VII of the Civil Rights Act to make it unlawful to discriminate against a woman who is pregnant.

Employers do not have to exhibit overt discrimination to risk liability. Even seemingly benign questions during the interview process can introduce the possibility of discrimination. If you are not disciplined in your interview process, "red flag" questions can unintentionally slip out.

Many companies carefully draft and review interview questions for specific jobs to ensure applicants are judged on their merits and to avoid questions that suggest selection bias. Even subtle inquiries can raise the question of prejudice, such as:

- What religion are you? What church do you go to? (Suggests discrimination based on religion.)
- Do you plan to start a family? (Suggests discrimination based on the prospect of pregnancy.)
- What country do you come from? (Suggests discrimination based on national origin.)
- Are you married? (Could suggest discrimination based on sexual orientation, gender identity, or prospect of pregnancy.)

The safest course of action is to avoid interview questions other than those required for determining if the candidate can comply with the performance requirements and hours of the job.

If you are concerned that your hiring decision might be discriminatory, it pays to confer with an employment attorney who can look at your situation and the legal issues. An employment attorney can determine whether you might be protected under "**undue hardship**" exceptions, based on the laws of all applicable jurisdictions. For example, the Civil Rights Act of 1964 contains an undue hardship provision that recognizes it might be burdensome to a business to comply with an employee's religious requirements that prohibit working on Sundays if that is a crucial day for business.

The Equal Pay Act – Expanding on Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, the Equal Pay Act prohibits paying wages based on the employee's sex.

Sexual Harassment – Sexual harassment is a form of discrimination that violates Title VII of the Civil Rights Act. Sexual harassment can be defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for favors, or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature amounting to either a condition of employment or offensive job interference. Generally, there are two distinct types of sexual harassment: "quid pro quo" sexual harassment and "hostile work environment" sexual harassment.

The more easily recognizable form of sexual harassment is quid pro quo sexual harassment, which occurs when a beneficial condition of employment, such as a bonus or promotion, is premised upon an employee's submission to sexual advances. Typically, this type of claim arises when an employee rejects a sexual advance and claims a connection between that rejection and a subsequent, adverse job action. For example, a denial of a raise or promotion, a termination, or a "constructive discharge" where an employee claims that the retaliation made job conditions intolerable.

Hostile work environment sexual harassment is more pervasive and, from a legal standpoint, more difficult to define. According to case law and the EEOC's interpretive regulations, a hostile work environment is one that is so pervasive with offensive conduct that it significantly alters the terms and conditions of an employee's employment.

These type of sexual harassment claims generally involve behavior that is uninvited or unwelcome and sexual in nature. For example, conduct sufficient to rise to the level of "hostile work environment" sexual harassment can be:

- Physical: touching such as hugs, kisses, body rubbing, and intentionally brushing up against another person
- Verbal: sexually suggestive words or jokes; sexual innuendos; compliments or comments about body parts; references such as gorgeous, honey, doll, babe, or other "pet names"; whistles, cat calls, and suggestive sounds; telling lies or spreading rumors about an employee's sex life; or repeated requests for dates
- Nonverbal/visual: sexual gestures; unwanted attention in the form of flowers, love letters, or compliments; stares, leers, winks, or suggestive looks; or pornographic material such as nude pictures, calendars, cartoons, diagrams, or objects

A single incident, such as the touching or grabbing of private parts, may be enough to demonstrate a hostile work environment if it is severe. Otherwise, courts generally require a pattern of inappropriate behavior before the conduct is considered sufficient to rise to the level of a hostile work environment.

The establishment, dissemination, and enforcement of a no-harassment policy are the first key steps to limiting liability.

To be effective, a no-harassment policy should be in writing and distributed to every employee (optimally with a signed acknowledgement by each). This typically is done by way of either an employee handbook or is presented to the employee at the time of hire with a signed acknowledgement form placed in the employee's personnel file.

Additionally, the policy should be posted in plain view, like in an employee break room or other location where it can be easily seen by employees.

Furthermore, the policy should be sure to prohibit all types of harassment and should not be confined to only sexual harassment. It should provide a clear definition of harassment and concrete examples of prohibited conduct.

Train managers to adhere to a zero-tolerance policy regarding sexual harassment. Even the best sexual harassment policy will not necessarily prevent sexual harassment from occurring. For this reason, it is critical that staff, particularly managers/supervisors, be given sexual harassment training both at their time of hire and, if need be, in periodic intervals thereafter. This is crucial as operators can be held liable—in some cases strictly liable—for their managers' conduct.

For more information: U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 <u>https://www.eeoc.gov/statutes/title-vii-civil-rights-act-1964</u>

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Title I (ADA)

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) prohibits employers from discriminating based on disability. The ADA defines "employer" as "a person engaged in an industry affecting commerce who has 15 or more employees for each working day in each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the current or preceding calendar year..." (42 U.S.C. § 12111(5)(A)).

The ADA defines "qualified individual with a disability" as an individual with a disability who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the employment position that such individual holds or desires.

Several aspects of the ADA you should be aware of:

"**Essential functions**" of the job. A person with a disability might not be able to perform all aspects of the job as well as a person without a disability; however, you must determine whether these are "essential functions" of the position.

For example, a bookkeeper might be expected to retrieve file boxes from storage as part of the job, but this is not an essential function of bookkeeping. A person confined to a wheelchair due to a physical disability could fulfill the role of bookkeeper if otherwise qualified.

"**Disability**" includes a wide range of physical, mental, and emotional conditions. Not all individuals with a disability have readily recognized impairments, such as paralysis or blindness.

"Reasonable accommodation" is often required by an employer to assist an employee with a disability in performing the job. For example, while prep cooks tend to work on their feet, it might be considered reasonable accommodation to set up a workstation that allows someone with a circulatory disorder to be seated for a large percentage of the shift.

"Undue hardship" takes into account the burden placed on the employer in accommodating an individual with a disability. Among the factors considered in determining whether an undue hardship exists are the cost of the accommodation, the impact on the business's resources, and the size and type of business.

A detailed job description outlining all essential functions and requirements of the job is an important first step to avoiding complicated or uncomfortable hiring decisions. If the applicant must be able to lift 50 pounds, be available on weekends, or possess a valid driver's license, then clearly state that in the job description.

Questions you should avoid in job interviews include:

- Do you have a disability that will prevent you from doing this job?
- Will your disability interfere with your ability to do this job?
- How many days were you sick last year?
- Do you have (name of disease or disorder)?

For more information:

ADA.gov Information and Technical Assistance on the Americans with Disabilities Act <u>https://www.ada.gov/ada_title_I.htm</u>

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Title I (ADA)

Under North Carolina law and the federal Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), people with disabilities may bring their service animals to all "public accommodations," such as restaurants, museums, hotels, and stores. These laws also require those who operate transportation services to allow service animals. Public accommodations in North Carolina must comply with both state and federal law, and their patrons are entitled to rely on whichever law provides the most protections.

For more information, view NCDHHS' Guide to Service Animals for Businesses.

Discrimination Based on Private Health Information

The 1992 Retaliatory Employment Discrimination Act

North Carolina legislation makes it illegal for an employer to discriminate based on traits for sickle cell, hemoglobin C, or other genetic information.

Title II of the Genetic Information Non-discrimination Act of 2008

Covers private employers with at least 15 employees (and labor unions, employment agencies; educational institutions; local, state, and federal governments). It prohibits discrimination based on genetic information; for example, refusing to hire any candidates because you are concerned their medical conditions would drive up the cost of employee health insurance.

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) of 1967

The ADEA prohibits employment discrimination against persons 40 years of age or older. Among other provisions, the ADAE makes it unlawful "to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual or otherwise discriminate against any individual with respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's age" (29 U.S.C § 623 (a)(1)).

A business might be prone to claims under the ADEA if hiring managers have an automatic bias for young employees. Questions to avoid in job interviews include:

- When did you graduate from high school?
- How old are you?

The ADEA contains a *bona fide occupational qualification* exemption, and requires that the age discrimination must be "reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the particular business" (29 U.S.C § 623 (f)(1)).

Bona fide occupational qualifications allow for an employer to discriminate against employees and potential employees "on the basis of religion, sex, or national origin in those certain instances where religion, sex, or national origin is a bona fide occupational qualification reasonably necessary to the normal operation of that particular business or enterprise" (42 U.S.C § 2000 (e)(2)). This exemption from employment discrimination liability does not allow the employer to discriminate based on race.

For more information:

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 <u>https://www.eeoc.gov/statutes/age-discrimination-employment-act-1967</u>

The Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA)

The FMLA allows eligible employees to take off up to 12 work weeks in any 12-month period for the birth or adoption of a child, to care for an immediate family member with a serious health condition, or to take medical leave for the employee's own serious health condition.

To be eligible, the employee must have worked for a total of 12 months of employment (which does not need to be consecutive); must have worked at least 1,250 hours in the previous 12-

month period; and must have worked in the United States or in any territory or possession of the United States at a work location that has 50 or more employees within a 75-mile radius.

Employees are permitted to take FMLA leave on an intermittent basis, allowing them to work on a reduced schedule, in certain circumstances. Employees who take FMLA leave also have the right to return to the same or equivalent position, pay, and benefits at the conclusion of their leave.

It is important to note that many small businesses are exempt from the FMLA, as it applies to businesses with 50 or more employees located within a 75-mile radius. Nevertheless, several independent operations, particularly emerging chains, are subject to its provisions.

For more information:

U.S. Department of Labor Family and Medical Leave (FMLA) <u>https://www.dol.gov/general/topic/benefits-leave/fmla</u>

Immigration Law

Under the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, employers may hire only persons who can legally work in the United States, that is, citizens and nationals of the United States and noncitizens authorized to work in the United States. The employer must verify the identity and employment eligibility of anyone to be hired, which includes completing the Employment Eligibility Verification Form (I-9). Employers must keep each I-9 on file for at least three years or one year after employment ends, whichever is longer.

If you find a prospective employee who is not authorized to work in the United States but who you would like to hire, you should contact an immigration attorney to assist with the process of obtaining authorization.

Negligent Hiring and Retention

Negligent hiring and retention laws are founded on the concept that an employer is liable for the harm to a third party (usually a member of the public) that results from an employee's negligent act. The employer has a duty to exercise reasonable care in the selection and retention of employees.

If your employees are brought in contact with members of the public in the course of your business, you could be subject to lawsuits by plaintiffs claiming careless hiring and retention practices were a cause of their injuries.

A key question in determining whether an employer has been negligent in hiring is defining "reasonable care." The definition varies slightly in each jurisdiction, but in most cases involving negligence, the courts look at the situation from the standpoint of a "prudent" employer.

"Reasonable care" often hinges on the circumstances and common sense. For example, hiring a catering truck driver without requiring proof of a valid driver's license would certainly be lack of

"reasonable care." Employee drug testing and background checks such as contacting the employee's references and checking criminal records are some of the ways negligent hiring and retention claims can be avoided.

Protection of Younger Workers

These laws seek to protect workers by restricting the type of work they can do, the number of hours they can work, and the types of businesses where they can work. As with many laws that protect workers, North Carolina generally follows federal law; however, the state laws are embodied in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.5.

Youths Under 18 Years of Age

No youth under 18 years of age may be employed by any employer in any occupation without a youth employment certificate unless specifically exempted. The State Commissioner of Labor prescribes regulations for youths and employers concerning the issuance, maintenance, and revocation of certificates. Certificates will be issued by the Commissioner, both directly and electronically.

Information on this certificate is available at:

https://www.labor.nc.gov/workplace-rights/youth-employment-rules/youth-employment-certificate

During the regular school term, no youth under 18 years of age who is enrolled in school in grade 12 or lower may be employed between 11 p.m. and 5 a.m. when there is school for the youth the next day. This restriction does not apply to youths 16 and 17 years of age if the employer receives written approval from the youth's parent or guardian and from the youth's principal or the principal's designee.

No youth under 18 years of age may be employed by an employer in any occupation which the United States Department of Labor finds and by order declares to be hazardous and without exemption under the Fair Labor Standards Act, or in any occupation which the Commissioner of Labor after public hearing finds and declares to be detrimental to the health and well-being of youths.

Youths Between 14 and 15 Years of Age

No youth 14 or 15 years of age may be employed by an employer in any occupation except those determined by the United States Department of Labor to be permitted occupations under the <u>Child</u> <u>Labor Provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act</u>. These youths may be employed by employers:

- 1. No more than three hours on a day when school is in session for the youth
- 2. No more than eight hours on a day when school is not in session for the youth
- 3. Only between 7 a.m. and 7 p.m., except to 9 p.m. during the summer (when school is not in session)
- 4. No more than 40 hours in any one week when school is not in session for the youth
- 5. No more than 18 hours in any one week when school is in session for the youth
- 6. Only outside school hours. Notwithstanding the above, enrollees in high school apprenticeships or in work experience and career exploration programs as defined under the Fair Labor

Standards Act may work up to 23 hours in any one week when school is in session, any portion of which may be during school hours.

No youth 14 or 15 years of age may be employed for more than five consecutive hours without an interval of at least 30 minutes for rest. No period of less than 30 minutes is considered an interruption of a continuous period of work.

Youths 13 Years of Age or Younger

No youth 13 years of age or younger may be employed by an employer.

Note: The Commissioner may waive any provision of the Youth Employment Section and authorize the issuance of an employment certificate for any youth between the ages of 13 and 18 when:

- The Commissioner receives a letter from a social worker, court, probation officer, county department of social services, a letter from the North Carolina Alcohol Beverage Control Commission, or school official stating those factors which create a hardship situation and how the best interest of the youth is served by allowing a waiver; and
- 2. The Commissioner determines that the health or safety of the youth would not be adversely affected; and
- 3. The parent, guardian, or other person standing in loco parentis consents in writing to the proposed employment.

For more information: North Carolina General Statutes §95-25.5 Youth Employment <u>https://www.ncleg.net/enactedlegislation/statutes/html/bysection/chapter_95/gs_95-25.5.html</u>

Breastfeeding Laws

Mothers in North Carolina have the right to breastfeed in public (NC Gen. Stat. §14-190.9 (1993)), which includes inside a restaurant. In North Carolina, breastfeeding mothers are exempt from indecent exposure laws.

North Carolina does not have any state legislation to protect and support breastfeeding mothers in the workplace. Mothers in North Carolina are protected by the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) if they are a non-exempt (hourly) employee. Under this federal mandate, breastfeeding mothers are entitled to reasonable break time and a private space (other than a bathroom) to pump at work for one year following their child's birth. North Carolina also offers a <u>free resource toolkit</u> to help breastfeeding mothers return to work.

The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) of 1994

The USERRA covers all members of the uniformed services (including non-career National Guard and Reserve members and active-duty personnel). It ensures that members of the uniformed services are entitled to return to their civilian employment after their service.

Unionization and Right to Work

North Carolina is among a minority of states that does not require an employee to join a union or pay the union fees as a condition of employment where the employer and a union have entered into a collective bargaining agreement.

Wage and Hour

Minimum Wage – An employer must pay its employees at least the minimum wage for all hours worked, and time and one-half overtime pay based on an employee's regular rate of pay for all hours worked more than 40 in a work week unless the employee is *exempt* (see below). The minimum wage in North Carolina follows the current federal minimum wage of \$7.25 an hour. According to the North Carolina Wage and Hour Act (WHA), an employer is not required to pay its employees more in wages than is required by the minimum wage and overtime pay provisions. Likewise, an employer is not required by law to give mandatory wage benefits such as vacation pay, sick leave, jury duty pay, and holiday pay to its employees regardless of how many hours a week they work.

North Carolina follows the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), which allows employers to pay a lower hourly minimum wage if that wage plus the tips adds up to at least the full minimum wage for each hour worked. If not, the employer must make up the difference to reach the minimum wage. In North Carolina, employers can pay tipped employees an hourly wage of \$2.13 as long as the employee's tips bring the total hourly wage up to the state minimum wage.

Overtime Laws – Exempt employees are not eligible for overtime pay for hours worked over 40 in a work week because of their rate of pay and type of work that they do. Non-exempt employees must be paid time and a half for any hours over 40 worked in a work week.

Executive, administrative, professional, and outside sales employees (as defined in Department of Labor regulations) who are paid on a salary basis are exempt from both the minimum wage and overtime provisions of the FLSA.

To be considered "*exempt*," employees must generally satisfy the following criteria:

- 1. Employees must earn a weekly salary that meets the minimum requirements, currently not less than \$684 per week.
- 2. With very limited exceptions, the employer must pay employees their full salary in any week they perform work, regardless of the quality or quantity of the work.
- 3. In addition, the employee's primary job duties must meet one of the following categories of exemptions:
 - a. **Executive employee exemption** All the following must apply:
 - The employee's primary duty must be managing the enterprise or managing a customarily recognized department or subdivision of the enterprise.
 - The employee must customarily and regularly direct the work of at least two or more other full-time employees or their equivalent.
 - The employee must have the authority to hire or fire other employees, or the employee's suggestions and recommendations as to the hiring, firing, advancement, promotion, or any other change of status of other employees must be given particular weight.

- b. Administrative employee exemption -- All the following must apply:
 - The employee must be compensated on a salary or fee basis (as defined in the regulations) at a rate not less than the minimum requirements, currently \$684 per week.
 - The employee's primary duty must be the performance of office or non-manual work directly related to the management or general business operations of the employer or the employer's customers.
 - The employee's primary duty must include the exercise of discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance.
- c. Learned professional employee exemption (*Note: This exemption does not typically apply in the hospitality industry; however, it would apply to employees whose jobs were accounting or in-house legal counsel. You should contact your attorney if you have questions whether an employee, such as a bookkeeper, falls under this category.*) All the following must apply:
 - The employee must be compensated on a salary or fee basis (as defined in the regulations) at a rate not less than the minimum requirements, currently \$684 per week.
 - The employee's primary duty must be the performance of work requiring advanced knowledge, defined as work which is predominantly intellectual in character, and which requires the consistent exercise of discretion and judgment.
 - The advanced knowledge must be in a field of science or learning, and the advanced knowledge must be customarily acquired by a prolonged course of specialized intellectual instruction.
- d. **Creative professional employee exemption** (*Note: This exemption does not typically apply in the hospitality industry; however, it would apply to employees whose jobs are graphic art or web design, for example. You should contact your attorney if you have questions whether an employee, such as a social media marketing specialist, falls under this category.*) All the following must apply:
 - The employee must be compensated on a salary or fee basis (as defined in the regulations) at a rate not less than the minimum requirements, currently \$684 per week.
 - The employee's primary duty must be the performance of work requiring invention, imagination, originality, or talent in a recognized field of artistic or creative endeavor.

There is also an exemption for "highly compensated" employees who customarily and regularly perform at least one of the exempt duties or responsibilities of an executive, administrative, or professional employee. These employees must receive a total annual compensation of at least \$107,432 to qualify for this exemption.

Workers' Compensation

Workers' Compensation laws are *state* laws that provide injured workers medical treatment for their injuries as well as wage replacement when they are disabled. The workers' compensation system is a form of no-fault insurance provided by the employer for the employee.

The employee gives up certain rights to sue in exchange for protection from injuries incurred on the job. Unless the injury was caused by the intentional misconduct of the employer, an employee cannot

sue their employer for the injury under traditional negligence claims (such as arising from automobile accidents or "slip-and-fall" cases).

With very narrow exceptions that **do not apply to the hospitality industry**, all employers with three or more employees are required to have workers compensation insurance under North Carolina law.

When an employee is injured on the job, even when it might be considered a minor injury, you should give the employee Form 18 to complete. As an employer, you must complete Form 19: *Employer's Report of Employee's Injury or Occupational Disease to the Industrial Commission.* The employer is required to file Form 19 within five days of learning of the injury. Typically, your workers' compensation insurer will then file the completed forms electronically with the North Carolina Industrial Commission, the state agency that handles workers' compensation claims. A copy of the Form 19 also must be provided to the injured worker.

For more information:

North Carolina Industrial Commission Workers' Compensation Forms <u>http://www.ic.nc.gov/forms.html</u>

North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act (Chapter 97 of the North Carolina General Statutes) <u>Chapter_97.pdf (ncleg.gov)</u>

Tipping

General Provisions

North Carolina tipping is governed by sections of the North Carolina Wage and Hour Act (N.C. Gen. Stat. **§** 95-25) and administrative law (13 NCAC 12) that specifically addresses tips. These laws are generally referenced throughout this section but are explained in plain language. You may find the specific language at the following links:

North Carolina Wage and Hour Act:

https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/PDF/ByArticle/Chapter_95/Article_2A.pdf

North Carolina Administrative Code – Tips and Tip Credits: http://reports.oah.state.nc.us/ncac/title%2013%20-%20labor/chapter%2012%20-%20wage%20and%20hour/13%20ncac%2012%20.0303.pdf

North Carolina follows federal law, including the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), which defines tipped employees as individuals engaged in occupations in which they customarily and regularly receive more

Tipped Employees Under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA): <u>https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fact-sheets/15-flsa-tipped-employees</u>

Tip Credit

than \$30 a month in tips.

According to North Carolina administrative law, "tips are not wages" (13 NCAC 12.0303). This means as an employer, you are not allowed to require employees to receive their entire compensation from tips in lieu of wages.

Tips may be counted *toward* wages, however, to the extent as the employer is permitted to take a "tip credit" of at least \$2.13 an hour in direct wages and applied as long as each employee receives enough in tips to make up the difference between the wages paid and the current minimum wage (\$7.25). An employer can take advantage of a "tip credit" by paying tipped employees a cash wage of \$2.13 plus an additional amount in tips that brings the total wage to the federal minimum wage. For an employer to use the "tip credit" to help meet the minimum wage requirement for employees, the employee must be informed of this fact and the employee must also be permitted to keep tips, unless the employee is part of a tip pool with other employees who regularly receive tips. For a tip pool to be valid, the employer must make sure that only employees who regularly receive tips participate.

North Carolina follows the federal minimum wage and tip credit. Be aware these amounts can change depending on changes to federal law. No state is permitted to pay a minimum wage or tip credit below the federal minimum guidelines.

Notice to Employees – A key requirement for taking the tip credit is notice to employees. Employers must notify employees in advance of the amount of cash wages they will be paid and the amount that wages will be increased using the tip credit. Employers must also notify employees in advance that employees are entitled to retain all tips.

Employers need not provide this information in writing. Of course, putting it in writing and obtaining an employee's written acknowledgement of receipt would help prove that the information was provided.

The National Restaurant Association provides information on tip credit employee notice requirements and has developed two sample notices, which can be obtained from the association's website. Version A is for those who do not require tip pooling, while Version B is for those who do. You may obtain these sample notices here:

www.restaurant.org/Downloads/PDFs/advocacy/tipcredit_notice_samples.pdf

Service Charges

The federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) regulations describe the "general characteristics" of a tip as:

... a sum presented by a customer as a gift or gratuity in recognition of some service performed for the customer. It is to be distinguished from payment of a charge, if any, made for the service. Whether a tip is to be given, and its amount, are matters determined solely by the customer, who has the right to determine who shall be the recipient of the gratuity (29 CFR § 531.52 – General restrictions on an employer's use of its employees' tips).

As expressed by North Carolina statute, "a tip shall not include a service charge which the employer requires the customer to pay, no matter what the charge is labeled" (12 NCAC 12.0303). Some restaurants choose to eliminate tips entirely and include a service charge or "auto gratuity" on the

customers' bills. Service charges are also used for banquets and, in some cases, large parties, in lieu of tipping. In short, service charges are treated as sales, not tips.

Tips are discretionary (optional or extra) payments determined by a customer that employees receive from customers. Tips include:

- Cash tips received directly from customers
- Tips left through electronic settlement or payment (including a credit card, debit card, gift card, or any other electronic payment method)
- The value of any noncash tips, such as tickets or other items of value
- Tip amounts received from other employees paid out through tip pools or tip splitting, or other formal or informal tip sharing arrangements

Four factors are used to determine whether a payment qualifies as a tip. All four factors must apply:

- The payment must be given freely by the customer
- The amount must be solely determined by the customer
- The payment should not be the subject of negotiations or dictated by employer policy
- Generally, the customer must have the right to determine who receives the payment

If any one of these does not apply, the payment is likely a service charge and is treated like any other sales revenue. Employers who distribute service charges to employees should treat them the same as regular wages for tax withholding and filing requirements. Employers should confer with an accountant for details.

Tip Pooling

Tips belong to the employee whom the customer left them for. Employees and employers may not make an agreement that the employee will relinquish tips to the employer.

However, if there is a tip pooling arrangement the employee may be required to relinquish tips received for distribution in accordance with the tip pooling arrangement.

"Tip pooling" is an arrangement in which all or a part of the tips of the contributing employees are combined into a common pool and then divided among the participating employees according to a pre-determined formula. A tip pooling arrangement is valid when:

- 1. The contributing employees are notified of the arrangement before the pay period in which it will be used
- 2. The share of each contributing employee is at least 85% of the employee's tips before the employee contributes to the tip pool (see "tips accruing" below)
- 3. Only employees who customarily and regularly receive tips receive a share from the pool (servers, bartenders, service bartenders, counter personnel, and bussers)

The requirement that the employer pay "tips accruing" to the employee is satisfied if the employee in a tip pooling arrangement receives 85% of their actual tips before pooling or their share received from the pool, whichever is greater. The tipped employees must retain at least 85% of the tips they receive, which means the employer must maintain accurate and complete records of the tips received and the amount of tips earned under the tip pooling arrangement.

In many cases, employers either facilitate or require tip-sharing arrangements. There are several reasons why an employer may favor a mandatory or facilitated tip pool, including:

- A belief that a tip pool creates friendlier and better service as employees work together, thus enhancing repeat business from customers
- Distributing tips to more employees will help management take full advantage of the tip credit for more employees, thus reducing labor costs
- Redistributing tips to lower-tier employees results in less employee turnover, and management may be able to promote from within (for example, bus staff to wait staff)
- As one court has suggested, management might put in place tip pooling simply to flex managerial muscle

Besides the legal concerns, which will be addressed later, there are reasons why an employer may decide not to put in place or accommodate a tip pool, including:

- To encourage competition among wait staff, perhaps leading to increased productivity and table turns
- Not wanting to spend management resources administering the system
- Tip pooling has not been used previously and many long-term employees feel that individual tips belong to them

While tip pools are legally limited to servers, bartenders, service bartenders, counter personnel, and bus persons, there is case law expanding this list to the maître d'/host positions as well. Cooks and dishwashers are listed in the regulations as not being "tipped" employees. While this list is certainly not exhaustive of all the positions in a restaurant (e.g., dish polisher, sommelier, expediter), basically a "tipped" position is limited to those with significant guest interaction, that is, front-of-the-house positions. Managers and supervisors may not participate in a tip pool.

This is an area of the law that is evolving. If you are unclear whether an employee can be included in a tip pool, you should confer with legal counsel to assess the position according to current rulings.

Tips on Credit or Debit Cards

Most consumer transactions today are electronic. According to North Carolina administrative code, if a customer pays by credit, charge, or debit card and includes a tip for an employee, the tip accrues to the employee at the time of the charge. The employer must pay the employee the charged tip no later than the end of the pay period in which the customer signs the charge. In addition, employers may retain from the tips an amount up to or equal to a percentage of the fee charged by the card issuing company attributable to the tips.

Tip Reporting

While the IRS requires tipped employees to provide this report once a month, as the employer, you will need a report for every payroll period, otherwise you cannot correctly report the employees' total wages, nor can you withhold the proper taxes (and pay your share of FICA tax). You can use the IRS created Form 4070A "Employee's Daily Record of Tips" or use another form that includes:

- Employee's name, address, and social security number
- Employer's name
- Period covered and date reported
- Total amount of tips received by the employee
- Employee's signature

You need to withhold income and FICA tax from each paycheck and report each employee's tips to the IRS. If you use a payroll service to process your payroll, you will need to report the total tips reported for the payroll period as submitted to you by that employee, along with the tipped employee's hours and hourly rate. This information will also be included on the Employer's Quarterly Payroll Tax Return (Form 941) that you or your payroll service will file. At the end of the year, you will also need to account for each employee's total wages (including tips) on their W-2. In certain cases, you may need to "allocate" additional wages for an employee if the employee has failed to report "sufficient" tip income.

As a practical matter you cannot force your employees to report all their tip income. While you are legally responsible for distributing Form 4070A (or an acceptable alternative), the business is only liable for its share of the FICA taxes on unreported tips (and only if the IRS is successful at substantiating unreported tip income). You should take a proactive role to get employees to accurately report their tips.

You are required to file IRS Form 8027 at the end of each year. It summarizes the business' total sales, charged sales, charged tips, and total reported tips. If tipping is customary in your restaurant, food and beverages are served, and more than 10 employees are normally employed, then you must submit the <u>"Employer's Annual Information Return of Tip Income and Allocated Tips"</u> on an annual basis.

Authorization for Withholding Wages

An employer may withhold or divert a portion of an employee's wages without the employee's authorization only when the employer is required or empowered to do so by North Carolina or federal law. In all other circumstances, a valid authorization by an employee is required for an employer to make a deduction from an employee's wages. Examples include contributions to savings plans, uniform rentals, and charitable contributions.

To be valid, an authorization by an employee must:

- Be written
- Be signed by the employee on or before the payday for the pay period for which the deduction is being made
- Show the date of signing by the employee
- State the reason for the deduction
- Only if it is a specific authorization, state the specific dollar amount or percentage of wages to be deducted from each paycheck and the number of paychecks or length of time for which the deduction is authorized

In addition, prior to the deduction taking place, the employer must:

- Provide advance written notice of the actual amount to be deducted
- Provide advance written notice of the employee's right to withdraw authorization
- Provide the employee with a reasonable opportunity to withdraw the authorization in writing

A specific authorization may be for one or more paychecks and should state the dollar amount or percentage of wages which the employee agrees may be deducted from each paycheck. Employers must give employees a reasonable opportunity to withdraw specific authorizations if such deductions are for the employees' convenience (for example, savings plans, credit union installments, savings bonds, union or club dues, uniform rental or cleaning not required by the employer, parking, and charitable contributions.)

Occupational Safety and Health

All owners and operators should familiarize themselves with the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (OSH Act). The OSH Act was enacted to ensure that US workplaces are safe and free of harmful working conditions. At its core, the OSH Act requires employers to provide their employees with a workplace free from recognized hazards that cause or are likely to cause death or serious physical harm, and to comply with occupational safety and health standards issued under the OSH Act.

Importantly, the OSH Act also established the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) to provide an effective enforcement program. OSHA sets mandatory occupational safety and health standards and conducts workplace inspections to ensure that employers comply with the standards and provide a safe and healthful workplace. It is the responsibility of all business owners/operators to become familiar with standards applicable to their establishments, to eliminate hazardous conditions to the extent possible, and to comply with the standards.

Even in areas where OSHA has not addressed a specific hazard, employers are responsible for complying with the OSH Act's "general duty" clause, which states that each employer "shall furnish ... a place of employment which is free from recognized hazards that are causing or are likely to cause death or serious physical harm to his employees" (29 USC § 654 (5))

North Carolina and other states with OSHA-approved job safety and health programs must set standards that are at least as effective as the equivalent federal standard.

For more information:

North Carolina General Statutes Article 16. Occupational Safety and Health Act of North Carolina <u>https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/HTML/ByArticle/Chapter 95/Article 16.html</u>

Employers' Responsibilities Under the OSH Act – As employers covered by the OSH Act, owners/operators must provide their employees with jobs and a place of employment free from recognized hazards that cause, or are likely to cause, death or serious physical harm. They must comply with the OSHA statutory requirements, standards, and regulations that require them to do the following:

- Provide well-maintained tools and equipment, including appropriate personal protective equipment when necessary
- Provide medical examinations in certain circumstances
- Provide training required by OSHA standards
- Report to OSHA within eight hours accidents that result in fatalities
- Report to OSHA within eight hours accidents that result in the hospitalization of three or more employees
- Prominently post the OSHA poster informing employees of their rights and responsibilities
- Provide employees access to their medical and exposure records
- Do not discriminate against employees who exercise their rights under the OSH Act
- Post OSHA citations and abatement verification notices at or near the work site
- Eliminate hazards cited in the violation within the prescribed period
- Respond to survey requests for data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics, OSHA, or a designee of either agency

Hazard Communication in the Workplace – Additionally, operators need to pay particular attention to OSHA's "Hazard Communication Standard." This rule requires employers who have any potentially hazardous chemical in the workplace, like cleaning solvents and pesticides, to transmit information about these chemicals to employees through labels on containers, "safety data sheets" (manufacturer-provided data sheets), and training programs.

Employees have a right to know about the chemical hazards they may face in the workplace. Consequently, under the applicable federal standards, OSHA requires that employers:

- 1. Ensure that all containers of hazardous materials are properly labeled, which includes identifying their contents, hazard warnings, and name and address of chemical manufacturer, importer, or other responsible party
- 2. Train all employees in the handling of hazardous materials, identifying hazards, and protecting themselves from exposure
- 3. Maintain a Safety Data Sheet (SDS) for each hazardous substance, readily available to employees, with the following information:
 - Proper identification of the chemical or the ingredients of a mixture
 - Physical and chemical characteristics
 - Physical hazards, including signs and symptoms of exposure and medical conditions associated with exposure to the chemical
 - Reactivity data
 - Primary route(s) of exposure (e.g., skin contact, inhalation)
 - The OSHA permissible exposure limit
 - Precautions for safe handling and use
 - First aid and control measures
 - Date the SDS was prepared or revised
- 4. Develop a written hazard communication program, readily available on request of employees, their representatives, OSHA, and National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health:
 - List of hazardous chemicals known to be present in the workplace
 - Methods used to inform employees of the hazards associated with the chemicals
 - Methods used to inform independent contractors of the hazardous chemicals their employees may be exposed to while working on the employer's premises

OSHA's Bloodborne Pathogens Standard – In 1991, OSHA released its Bloodborne Pathogens Standard (BPS) to eliminate or minimize employee contact with potentially infectious materials such as blood or other body fluids. Although the regulation principally applies to health care workers, in 1993, OSHA advised the National Restaurant Association that foodservice establishments with designated employees responsible for rendering first aid or medical assistance as part of their job duties are also covered. If a business has chosen to designate an employee as responsible for rendering first aid, under BPS the employer must provide the following:

- **Exposure plan.** Employers must provide documented operating procedures to eliminate or minimize employees' exposure to other's blood or other potentially infectious materials. The plan should include employee awareness, training, appropriate personal protection equipment, procedures for cleanup and disposal of contaminated material, and incident reporting. Review the plan annually and update as necessary.
- **Hepatitis B vaccination.** Within 24 hours after an employee is exposed to potentially infectious materials, the employer must counsel the employee and offer to provide a free post-exposure vaccination against Hepatitis B. Although this is only required for designated first-aiders, you may wish to consider offering it to any exposed employee. The vaccination need not be offered before exposure because first aid is considered a "collateral duty" for foodservice employees.
- **Medical evaluation.** If employees have contact with blood or other potentially infectious materials, the employer must arrange for a confidential medical evaluation.
- **Recordkeeping.** The employer must maintain a record of each occupational exposure.
- **Training.** Designated first-aiders must receive training and information on first-aid techniques and certification; how to avoid or minimize exposure; handling and removal of gloves, clothing, bandages, and laundry; hand washing; and cleanup procedures.

Unemployment Insurance

As an employer, you pay an Unemployment Insurance (UI) tax on your payroll. This UI tax pays for the benefits that are paid to qualified, unemployed workers. Unemployment tax is not deducted from employee wages.

NC Department of Commerce's Division of Employment Security transfers unemployment tax payments made by employers to the federal Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund in Washington, DC. Each year, a prorated share of the interest earned on this trust fund is added back to the account of each North Carolina employer having a credit experience rating balance.

For more information: North Carolina Division of Employment Security Unemployment Insurance Website <u>DES: Employers (nc.gov)</u>

Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (WARN) of 1988

The Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (WARN) covers employers with at least 100 employees, not including employees who have worked less than six months in the last 12 months and not including employees who work less than 20 hours per week. Employers must provide 60 days'

advance notice of covered closing and covered mass layoffs of 50 or more people (excluding part-time workers).

Employee Drug Testing

Employers in North Carolina may require applicants to take a drug test as a condition of employment at the expense of the employer. Applicants have the right to retest a confirmed positive sample at their own expense, at the same lab that confirmed the sample or at another approved lab of their choosing.

North Carolina "finds that individuals should be protected from unreliable and inadequate examinations and screening for controlled substances" (NCGS § 95-230). North Carolina also finds that employers who test employees for controlled substances "shall use reliable and minimally invasive examinations and screenings" (NCGS § 95-230).

If a prospective or current employee has a positive result, they "shall be confirmed by a second examination of the sample utilizing gas chromatography with mass spectrometry or an equivalent scientifically accepted method" (NCGS § 95-230).

To preserve individual dignity and privacy, examiners and their agents must keep information confidential relating to an examinee's controlled-substance examinations, unless otherwise authorized by law or code (13 NCAC 20.0501).

Potential Liability Pitfalls

Several potential liability pitfalls on drug testing include:

- Only requiring drug tests for certain classes of current or prospective employees, based on their *race, color, religion, sex, and national origin (Title VII of the Civil Rights Act)*
- Firing or refusing employment based on a positive result due to prescribed medications for a disability (Americans with Disabilities Act)
- Firing or refusing employment based on a drug screen not confirmed by an approved laboratory
- Violating the dignity and privacy of the employee by sharing results with third parties (if the results are falsely positive, sharing this information could be the basis for a civil suit for defamation)

Practical Points on Drug Testing

Because employees are hired and terminated "at-will" in North Carolina, an employer may terminate an employee for any reason that is *not discriminatory* under state or federal employment law.

If an employee appears to be unable to perform the job due to impairment (other than due to a disability requiring reasonable accommodations under the ADA), then you would be expected to take them off duty; for example, if the employee was engaged in illegal activity, such as selling drugs on premises, and this action was verified. That said, as with every negative employment action, the employer should document the incident and file the report with the manager's signature and the signatures of witnesses, if appropriate (such as an act of violence).

If an employee smells of alcohol or marijuana on duty, the safest course of action is to privately confront the employee to voice your concern. Acting on suspicion or unverified information, even if the

suspicion seems clearly supported, is risky. Implying the employee is intoxicated in front of other staff members and customers could expose your business to a defamation action. It also can breed mistrust of management, and few people like seeing their peers embarrassed or humiliated.

Important Employee Documentation

Employee Handbook (Source: Restaurant Startup & Growth)

Communicating personnel policies, work rules, expectations, benefit plans, and overall organizational philosophy to employees is vitally important to any business. Well-drafted, easy-to-understand work rules are imperative to getting your employees up to speed with your business' culture. In fact, good communication and documentation often increases employee retention, as it fosters trust and builds employee confidence in the organization.

A sound employee handbook can prove beneficial in several ways, including improving employee morale, avoiding litigation, and increasing consistent application of workplace policies and discipline. From an employee perspective, the employee handbook provides guidance, sets expectations, and provides information regarding policies and procedures that apply to the workplace. The employee handbook can also prove a valuable resource for employees with respect to employee benefit plans and can free up managers' time from answering questions regarding such programs.

As for employers, the greatest benefit that an employee handbook can provide is the legal protections from properly drafted and disseminated policies and procedures.

Clearly establishing a set of behavioral expectations demonstrates that an employer is not contributing to the employee's bad behavior. Setting clear performance and behavioral expectations can also help the employer consistently spot and address violations. Relying on loosely defined standards that are not properly documented can lead to violations that become subjective and open to interpretation. The result of such ambiguity is often inconsistent treatment, which can lead to litigation.

Employers often adopt exhaustive written personnel policies that govern relationships with current employees because a written policy can be an effective tool for defending lawsuits. Putting policies and procedures in written form also provides practical benefits. From the manager's perspective, a properly written and regularly updated employee handbook can serve as a tool for communicating performance expectations, establishing applicable work rules, setting disciplinary policies, and telling employees about the benefit plans that the employer offers.

An employee handbook can also provide support to your managers. When faced with a personnel issue, an employee handbook can provide guidance and certainty to the decision-making process.

To be effective, an effective employee handbook must be tailored to your policies, your business, your goals, and your workforce. It is an investment that can pay dividends in increased productivity, improved employee morale, and minimized litigation.

One Size Does Not Fit All. While employee handbooks can be written by software programs or by consulting services, know that there is no single template that is right for every business.

To ensure that policies are correct and remain current, employers should discuss current issues that lead to new statutes with an attorney or human resource professional who specializes in employment policies or employment law for the hospitality industry

For more guidance on what should be included in your employee handbook, review Appendix A below.

Employment Applications (Source: Restaurant Startup & Growth)

It is important for every job applicant to complete a proper employment application. Employment applications can provide a good defense for a wrongful discharge claim. A common example is the employee who lies on their application and then raises a wrongful discharge claim against the employer. Evidence of the employee's misrepresentation on their job application can diminish or undermine the claim and protect your interests.

Also, an employment application allows you to obtain written consent to perform lawful background checks. For example, before an employer can get a consumer credit report for employment purposes, it must notify the applicant in writing and get written authorization. This allows the employee to withdraw the application if there is information the employee would rather not see disclosed. School records cannot be disclosed without the consent of the student.

The application can be a double-edged sword if it is not carefully constructed. Employment applications have been the focal point of discrimination lawsuits against employers. The EEOC cautions employers to avoid questions that tend to have a "disproportionate effect" in screening out minorities or females. All questions in an application should only seek information necessary to judge if the individual is competent to perform the job.

Small Business Exemption

It is important to understand that both federal and state laws apply to restaurants, bars, and lodging establishments. For smaller businesses, which are defined differently under federal employment laws (e.g., generally employers with less than \$500,000 in gross annual sales under wage and hour laws; or employers with fewer than 15 employees under nondiscrimination laws, etc.), generally only state laws apply. This is called the small business exemption. However, any person who works on or otherwise handles goods that are moving in interstate commerce is individually subject to the minimum wage and overtime protection of the FLSA. For example, a waitress or cashier who handles a credit card transaction would likely be subject to the Act.

In most cases, when two laws apply, the one most beneficial to the employee is the one to follow. Therefore, except for certain areas (e.g., pension benefits), in most cases, even if an establishment falls under federal guidelines, the state law should be followed when it benefits the employee more.

Bankruptcy

Bankruptcy refers to laws available to debtors who cannot meet their obligations to creditors. Federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over bankruptcy cases, which means that a bankruptcy case cannot be filed in a state court.

The primary purposes of the laws of bankruptcy are:

- to give an honest debtor a "fresh start" in life by relieving the debtor of most debts
- to repay creditors in an orderly manner to the extent that the debtor has property available for payment

The bankruptcy process is relatively complex and requires the counsel of specialized attorneys who typically focus their practices on either *personal* bankruptcy (for individual debtors) or business bankruptcy (for business entities in financial duress). As this legal guide is created for hospitality business owners, operators, and managers, it emphasizes the most used forms of business bankruptcy. There are two categories of bankruptcy: liquidation and reorganization.

Liquidation

For businesses, liquidation bankruptcy falls under Chapter 7 of the US bankruptcy code. Chapter 7 bankruptcy is also available to individuals. In Chapter 7, bankruptcy the business does not continue operating going forward. The company dissolves and ceases to exist.

In Chapter 7, a business converts its assets to cash, and the court assigns a trustee to divide the cash among creditors who receive a share based on their relationship to the company.

So-called "secured" creditors, those who issued credit backed by collateral, are prioritized for these funds. In many cases they receive only a fraction of what the debtor owes.

Reorganization

Chapter 11 is a business reorganization bankruptcy that permits businesses to continue operations while also reorganizing debts through a debt repayment plan. As ominous as "filing for bankruptcy" sounds, Chapter 11 bankruptcy is often a business strategy, not a proverbial "white flag" raised in defeat. Companies often emerge from Chapter 11 bankruptcy stronger and more able to compete in changing economic and market conditions.

In Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases, the court oversees a manageable plan to repay, in part if not in whole, to those whom the company owes money. Chapter 11 allows business interests to go forward, preserving and creating jobs and contributing to the economy. During the COVID-19 pandemic, several lodging and restaurant companies filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy.

The process is expensive and complicated, which is why small businesses including independent restaurants and hotels have avoided it. Congress recognized this problem and created Subchapter V of Chapter 11, which is described in the next section. For example, in a traditional Chapter 11 case, the debtor must file and distribute a disclosure statement to provide creditors with information regarding the plan. Creditors often dispute the adequacy of the disclosure statement, which leads to delays and court battles.

Subchapter V of Chapter 11 Under the Small Business Reorganization Act (SBRA) of 2019

For many years, Chapter 11 bankruptcy was impractical for small businesses because of its expense and complexity. Small businesses were often limited to filing Chapter 7 bankruptcy, also known as liquidation, and shuttering their operations.

The barriers for small businesses to enter Chapter 11, with its unique protections and opportunities, was not lost on attorneys, judges, and legislators, giving rise to the Small Business Reorganization Act (SBRA) of 2019. The SBRA created Subchapter V of Chapter 11 of the US bankruptcy code.

The SBRA became effective on February 19, 2020. The timing could not have been better in the wake of the pandemic and its impact on small businesses, including those in the hospitality industry.

It has many of the benefits of traditional Chapter 11. Unlike a Chapter 7 case, the trustee cannot sell the debtor's assets and does not take control over the debtor's business. The trustee is more like an advisor and handler, facilitating the development of a consensual reorganization plan, appearing at major hearings, and ensuring that the debtor makes timely payments under the plan. In a Subchapter V case, however, the debtor pays the trustee and its own legal fees, but not the legal fees of the creditors.

In Subchapter V, the process moves much more quickly than traditional Chapter 11 cases. The Court holds a status conference within 60 days from the filing. At least 14 days before that conference, the debtor must report in writing on the efforts made, and to be made, to get a consensual plan. The debtor must file its plan of reorganization within 90 days from the filing.

Another advantage to Subchapter V is that only the debtor may file a plan, unlike a traditional Chapter 11 case, in which creditors or other parties in interest may file a competing plan.

And Subchapter V helps debtors dodge protracted disputes. In a traditional Chapter 11 case, the debtor must file and distribute a disclosure statement to provide creditors with information regarding the plan so that they can decide if they like the plan or not. Creditors often dispute the adequacy of the disclosure statement, which leads to delays and court battles. Subchapter V does not require a disclosure statement and avoids other technical disputes raised by creditors.

Subchapter V bases the debtor repayment schedule on projected revenue. This could favor small businesses facing a slow climb out of the pandemic as their projections for the ability to repay creditors are as conservative as they will ever be.

Food and Health Laws

Foodborne Illness Reporting

All food and drink establishments must report all outbreaks or suspected outbreaks of foodborne illness in its customers or employees and all suspected cases of foodborne disease or foodborne condition in food handlers at the establishment by telephone to the local health department within 24 hours of discovering the illness or disease. For additional assistance on how to handle and report incidents of foodborne illnesses, including filing written reports, contact your local health department or the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services.

To contact your local health department: <u>https://www.ncdhhs.gov/divisions/public-health/county-health-departments</u>

NC Food Code Manual & Annexes

North Carolina adopted the FDA Food Code in 2017 and began the enforcement of the code in October 2021. The food code, which promotes consistency in rules and interpretations across the country and across county lines in NC, applies to every food service establishment in the state. NCRLA members were instrumental in helping to adopt and implement the FDA version of the food code.

The NCRLA website provides helpful information on Food Code rules regarding restaurants and lodging as well as ServSafe Food Protection Manager classes and online exams. ServSafe also provides a training course for line-level staff, ServSafe Food Handlers Certification, which is a shortened, economical answer to training your entire kitchen staff on the basics of food safety. To be in compliance with the Food Code, be sure you have one person in charge on every shift certified with the ServSafe Food Protection.

Access the North Carolina Food Code Manual here: <u>http://ehs.ncpublichealth.com/faf/docs/foodprot/NC-FoodCodeManual-2009-FINAL.pdf</u>

Access the North Carolina Food Code Annexes here: <u>http://ehs.ncpublichealth.com/faf/food/foodcodeannex.htm</u>

Food Establishment Inspections

Whenever an inspection of a food establishment is made, a grade card is issued. The owner or operator is responsible for keeping the grade card posted and readily visible.

The sanitation grading of all food establishments is based on the following scoring system: all establishments receiving a score of at least 90 percent are awarded Grade A; all establishments receiving a score of at least 80 percent and less than 90 percent are awarded Grade B; all establishments receiving a score of at least 70 percent and less than 80 percent are awarded Grade C. No establishment receiving a score of less than 70 percent, or Grade C, may operate.

Forms, Permit Applications, and Required Signage Documents

Several inspection forms, checklists, and signs and are available online under North Carolina's Environmental Health Section:

- Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program
- Food Protection and Facilities Branch (food establishment inspection report, lodging establishment inspection report, swimming pool inspection report, etc.)
- OSWP Sample Forms, Letters, and Publications (construction permits, etc.)

View forms here: http://ehs.ncpublichealth.com/forms.htm

Plan Unit Review

For any establishment building a food or lodging establishment from the ground up, planning structural renovations, or in the process of buying an establishment from another owner, you need to contact your local health department and work with the State Plan Review Unit.

To contact your local health department: <u>https://www.ncdhhs.gov/divisions/public-health/county-health-departments</u>

For the State Plan Review Unit: https://ehs.ncpublichealth.com/faf/food/planreview/app.htm

Federal Health Care Reform Legislation

Major changes are underway in how health insurance is bought, sold, and provided by employers in the United States. The 2010 health care law, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA), as amended, reorganizes the commercial health insurance market. Among other major changes, the law requires many employers to provide employment-based health insurance coverage or pay a potentially substantial penalty.

Up-to-date information on health care reform is available as follows:

- Health Care Information from National Restaurant Association
- Health Care Information from American Hotel & Lodging Association

ABC Laws and Regulations

Avoid 99% of Violations by Following Ten Basic Rules

- 1. Alcohol may not be sold or served to anyone under 21 years old.
- 2. Alcohol may not be possessed or consumed by anyone under 21 years old on your permitted premises, regardless of where the alcohol came from.
- 3. Alcohol may not be sold or served to anyone who is intoxicated.
- 4. Alcohol may not be sold or served outside the hours of 7 a.m. and 2 a.m. the following day, except that on Sunday, when sales and consumption may begin as late as 12 noon or as early as 10 a.m. if allowed by local ordinance.
- 5. Consumption of alcohol is allowed at on-premises ABC permittees until 2:30 a.m., at which point all open containers of alcohol must be removed immediately from public areas and discarded.
- 6. There can be no consuming alcohol while performing your designated job duties, even when the business is closed to the public.
- 7. No controlled substances are allowed on any ABC permitted premises.
- 8. ABC permittees must maintain alcohol invoices and receipts on the premises for three years and make them readily available for inspection.
- 9. Mixed Beverages permittees must always have an employee at least 21 years old on the premises; beer and wine permittees must always have an employee at least 18 years old on the premises; and ABC permittees may employ minors between ages 16 and 18 if the minor does not prepare, serve, sell, or deliver any alcoholic beverages.
- 10. All liquor must be ordered and purchased from the Local ABC Board with tax stamps on the label *(do not purchase over-the-counter product from the local ABC Store!).* All beer and wine must be purchased from an ABC permitted wholesaler.

Compliance with Drinking Age Laws

Under North Carolina law, individuals must be 21 years old to purchase, attempt to purchase, possess, or consume alcoholic beverages. Serving alcohol to an underage person is illegal and could result in both criminal charges and ABC Commission penalties ranging from a large fine to suspension or revocation of ABC permits.

One way to avoid ABC trouble (or criminal penalty) for selling to an underage person is to CHECK IDs. North Carolina law provides that a seller cannot be held responsible for an underage sale if the seller can show that the purchaser produced a valid, non-expired driver's license, special North Carolina ID card for non-operators of motor vehicles, military ID, or passport. The ID must show the purchaser is at least the required age for purchase and must also have a photograph that bears a reasonable resemblance to the purchaser.

Although not nearly as effective as properly checking IDs, state law says that the seller also may produce evidence of other facts at a hearing reasonably indicating that at the time of sale the purchaser was at least 21. As a practical matter, however, if the seller did not check the buyer's ID, no number of "other" facts are likely to avoid a negative outcome.

A new section of the law provides an additional defense to a person selling alcoholic beverages to a person under 21 years of age. This defense is available if the buyer previously registered an accepted form of identification with the seller and the buyer used a biometric identification system (e.g., a fingerprint) to show their age.

Two practical tips for compliance:

- 1. Staff should be instructed not to take the word of an obviously older adult accompanying the child. Many parents permit their underage children to drink at meals and will vouch for their child's age to allow this in a restaurant. Their "consent" to you serving their child will not protect you from ABC or criminal enforcement.
- 2. Many law enforcement sting operations utilize older officers who accompany the underage person and who "vouch" for the person's age by sitting silently while the underage person orders alcohol. Always check ID.

Intoxicated/Unruly Patrons

It is illegal to sell alcoholic beverages to anyone who appears intoxicated. Employees should feel empowered by management to refuse to sell or serve alcohol to someone they suspect is overserved. Employees also should receive regular training on detecting intoxication, as well as instruction concerning their own rights to refuse service to any patron based not only on intoxication, but also on unruly or dangerous behavior. Permittees are required under ABC laws to maintain an orderly and safe premise. Establishments that develop a reputation for turning dozens of intoxicated patrons onto the streets at closing time or that regularly have fights or other dangerous situations inside or outside the premises requiring law enforcement intervention generally have very short lifespans for their permits.

All permittees should have written rules for employees regarding dealing with intoxicated patrons and checking IDs.

Serving Alcoholic Beverages

No person under 21 may mix or pour alcoholic beverages containing spirituous liquor. Individuals between the ages of 18 and 21 are allowed to pour, serve, and sell beer or wine while working as wait staff as part of the job.

A person under the age of 18 years but at least 16 years of age may clean up or "bus" tables that require them to remove containers with alcoholic beverages or vessels that contain alcoholic beverages, but they may not bring or serve those containers or vessels to a table.

Hours and Days of Sale

Sales of alcoholic beverages may not begin before 7 a.m. on Mondays through Saturdays. On Sundays, sales may begin at noon, but local governments are authorized to adopt ordinances that allow sales in those communities to begin as early as 10 a.m.

Sales of alcoholic beverages are not allowed after 2 a.m. on any day of the week. Patrons are allowed to consume alcoholic beverages served to them before 2 a.m. up until 2:30 a.m. By 2:30 (not after), permittees must make sure that all consumption stops and must clear all tables, counters, and bars of any alcohol and alcoholic beverage containers.

Serving Drinks and Drink Specials/Happy Hours

Permittees may serve only one mixed beverage (and no other drink) at a time to a patron. Permittees may not serve more than two drinks to a single patron at one time, as long as neither of the drinks is a mixed beverage. Pitchers of alcoholic beverages may be served to two or more patrons. A single carafe or bottle of wine may be sold to a single person.

If sales are occurring on property under control of a public college or university, permittees may serve only one drink per person at one time, regardless of the type of drink being served.

Happy hours are not allowed in North Carolina. Drink specials are allowed but must be offered to all customers for the entire day and in all areas of the business. Certain drink specials are not allowed, such as a "two for one" or a "buy one, get one" special. "Buy one, get one for a nickel" (or another non-full price amount) is also prohibited. Although ABC takes the position that a "buy a meal (or anything), get a free drink" special is prohibited, NC law allows an on-premises permittee to include alcoholic beverages in a package offering that includes a meal or entertainment. If offering such a package, however, the total price must reflect the actual price of the alcoholic beverages and not a reduced price.

Qualifications for Permittees

To be eligible to apply for and to hold an ABC permit, a person must:

- Be at least 21 years old, unless the person is a manager of a business selling only malt beverages and unfortified wine, in which case the person must be at least 19 years old
- Be a resident of North Carolina if responsible for management of day-to-day operations of the permittee

- Not have been convicted of a felony within three years, and, if convicted before then, must have had citizenship restored
- Not have been convicted of an alcoholic beverage offense within two years
- Not have been convicted of a misdemeanor controlled-substance offense within two years
- Not have had an ABC permit revoked within three years

Provide proof that the resident manager has up-to-date Responsible Alcohol Server (or RASP) Training, which is provided through ABC and ALE. *Best management practices include the permittee requiring all employees who serve or sell alcoholic beverages to receive RASP training at least once a year.*

To be eligible to sell or serve alcoholic beverages for ABC permittee, a person must:

- Be at least 18 years old or, in the case of pouring or preparing mixed beverages, be at least 21 years old
- Not have been convicted of a felony within three years, and, if convicted before then, must have had citizenship restored
- Not have been convicted of an alcoholic beverage offense within two years
- Not have been convicted of a misdemeanor controlled-substance offense within two years

If a permittee wishes to hire a person who is not qualified under these criteria, the permittee (not the potential employee) may submit a written request to ABC for a waiver, which ABC will generally grant to avoid undue hardship.

Business Records

ABC permittees must maintain all invoices and receipts for purchases of alcoholic beverages on the premises for three years and must make the records readily available for inspection by appropriate law enforcement officials. Alcoholic beverage invoices and receipts must be maintained and kept separate from other business records (including food invoices, employment records, etc.).

Purchase Requirements

ABC retail permittees must purchase all beer and wine products from a licensed North Carolina wholesaler that is authorized to distribute the product. Retail permittees may not purchase beer and wine products from other retailers such as grocery stores, membership clubs, etc. Regulatory inspections and audits in which quantities purchased from wholesalers are less than quantities sold at retail often result in enforcement actions.

ABC mixed beverage permittees must purchase all spirituous liquor from the appropriate local ABC Board, and not at retail from the front end of an ABC store. Spirituous liquor purchased through the proper channel will have a mixed beverage tax stamp on each bottle. All bottles of liquor on an ABCpermitted premises must have a mixed beverage tax stamp on it. Any bottle of liquor without a tax stamp is evidence of tax evasion, and if discovered by ABC will result in a fine, suspension, or revocation. Even bottles of liquor brought onto the premises as gifts or promotions and kept away from "public" areas of the premises will be penalized and confiscated. In 2021, a new law authorized the delivery of product from the local ABC Board to a mixed beverage permittee. When ALE agents or local ABC officers come across ABC violations during enforcement actions or inspections, they report the violations to the ABC Commission by directing a report to ABC Legal. ABC learns of permittee violations in other ways as well (i.e., through audit reports, local law enforcement, and news media).

If ABC Legal determines that a violation has occurred warranting a fine, suspension, or revocation, it sends the permittee a "Notice of Alleged Violation" (NOAV) that gives a short description of the alleged violation or violations, as well as a list of options for the permittee's consideration. These options include speaking to an attorney or paralegal at ABC Legal or settling the matter by signing an enclosed "Proposed Stipulation and Offer in Compromise" (OIC). The NOAV also informs the permittee of its right to request a hearing at which ABC Legal and the permittee will have the right to put on evidence before an Administrative Law Judge. Finally, the NOAV informs the permittee that if no response is given by a certain date, ABC will treat the failure to respond as a request for a hearing.

The OIC is the ABC attorney's offer to settle the case. It includes a list of the permits held by the permittee, a statement of prior ABC violations by the permittee, and the same short description of wrongdoing contained in the NOAV. It then sets forth the proposed penalty, which can be a fine, suspension, revocation, or a combination of fine and suspension.

In considering ABC's offer, the permittee is entitled to request the reporting officer's Violation Report, which is a narrative that provides details of the officer's activities and observations in conducting enforcement related to the alleged violation. If the permittee wishes to avoid a hearing, it may sign and return the OIC, which will be submitted to the Commission for approval at its next meeting. The permittee may also attempt to negotiate the amount or length of the penalty with ABC Legal. In the interests of maintaining uniformity of penalties, ABC tends to resist departing from OICs to any significant degree. The permittee at any time in the process may determine its interests would be best protected by engaging a lawyer.

If the permittee does not wish to admit wrongdoing or otherwise wishes to have a hearing on the violation, it may notify ABC or it may do nothing. As long as the permittee is not operating under temporary permits or posing an imminent danger to the public, ABC must file a petition, present evidence, and obtain an administrative ruling before imposing a penalty. ABC does this by filing a Petition for Contested Case Hearing in administrative court, known as the Office of Administrative Hearings. The Petition is essentially the same as a complaint in a civil lawsuit. From this point forward, the case is treated like a civil court case, with filing deadlines, sworn depositions, motions, and a trial.

Like most prosecutors, if unable to settle the case at an early stage, ABC generally will seek a much harsher punishment at the evidentiary hearing, or trial. For this reason, a permittee proceeding without counsel at this point is at significant risk. A neutral Administrative Law Judge is assigned to resolve any disputes leading up to the evidentiary hearing, as well as to preside over the hearing and render a decision. An adverse ruling may be appealed to Superior Court, which has strict limitations on grounds for reversing the administrative court decision. From Superior Court, a petitioner may, but seldom does, appeal to higher appellate courts.

ABC Violations – Criminal Charges

In most instances, ABC violations also are punishable as criminal violations. These charges generally are pursued against the person who commits the violation, for example, a waitperson who serves alcohol to

an underage person. In certain more extreme cases, however, a manager may be charged based on a gross failure to supervise the premises.

ABC Violations – Other Civil Liability

North Carolina's courts have determined that an ABC permittee has a duty to the public to take reasonable steps to prevent sales to intoxicated persons, and that if a person becomes intoxicated at the permittee's establishment and then drives in a manner that causes injury or death, the permittee may be held civilly liable. Many business insurance policies do not cover liability arising out of this situation (known as dram shop liability). There is not a legal limitation on potential damages related to dram shop cases.

North Carolina statutes also allow a person injured because of a sale of alcohol to an underage person to sue the permittee and any individual who made the sale. This includes not just people directly injured by the underage person (e.g., an innocent driver), but also the parents of the underage person. The statute provides a liability limit of \$500,000 per occurrence.

Certain ABC violations involving taxes may result in civil or even criminal enforcement through the NC Department of Revenue.

Innkeeper Laws

Hotels, motels, and other establishments that provide lodging for pay are subject to regulation by both state and federal law.

North Carolina State Law

Hotels and motels are governed by 4 main areas of NC state law: G.S. Chapter 72- Innkeepers; Article 8 of G.S. Chapter 130A – Regulation of Food and Lodging Facilities; G. S. Chapter 18B - Alcoholic Beverage Control; and the State Building Code.

Chapter 72 – Innkeeper Laws

These statutes provide basic standards regulating the following:

- A written statement setting forth the time period during which a guest may occupy an assigned room, signed or initialed by the guest, is deemed a valid contract.
- Innkeepers are not liable for loss or damage to the property of their guests except in case such loss or damage results from the failure of the innkeeper to exercise ordinary, proper, and reasonable care.
- Upon the request of any guest, the innkeeper has a duty to receive and safely keep money, jewelry, and valuables to an amount not exceeding \$500. No innkeeper is required to receive and take care of any valuables of an amount greater than \$500. No innkeeper is liable for the loss, damage, or destruction of any money or jewels not so deposited.
- Innkeepers may permit pets in rooms. Innkeepers allowing pets must post a sign at registration area measuring not less than five inches by seven inches informing guests that pets are permitted in sleeping rooms and in adjoining rooms. If certain pets are permitted or prohibited, the sign must state so. If any pets are permitted, the innkeeper must maintain a minimum of

10% of the sleeping rooms in the inn or hotel as rooms where pets are not permitted, and the sign must also state that such rooms are available.

- Every innkeeper must keep posted in every room of the house occupied by guests, and in the office, a printed copy of NC General Statute Chapter 72 Article 1 and of all regulations relating to the conduct of guests.
- A diagram depicting two evacuation routes must be posted on or immediately adjacent to every required egress door from each hotel or motel or dormitory guestroom. Innkeepers may contact the NC Office of the State Fire Marshal for more information regarding evacuation postings at (800) 634-7854 or visit <u>http://www.ncdoi.com/ OSFM/</u>.
- A hotel has a duty to receive guests, but the duty is not absolute and is subject to lawful exceptions. Hotels may generally deny accommodations to a prospective guest for the following reasons:
 - If the person is unwilling or unable to pay for a room or other establishment privileges
 - If the person is under the influence of alcohol or drugs or creating a public nuisance
 - If the person's use of a room or accommodation would violate the facility's maximum capacity
 - If the innkeeper reasonably believes the person will use the room or facility for an unlawful purpose
 - If the innkeeper reasonably believes the person will bring in something that would create an unreasonable danger or risk to others
- A hotel has the right to remove a guest for generally the same reasons as its right to deny accommodations stated above. If the guest does not leave voluntarily, the hotel may contact local law enforcement, advise that the guest is trespassing, and request enforcement of trespass laws.
- A hotel has an affirmative duty, stemming from a guest's rights of privacy and peaceful possession, not to allow unregistered and unauthorized third parties to gain access to its guests' rooms. However, it is understood that the hotel will have access for routine housekeeping and in the case of emergencies.
- A hotel is entitled to a lien upon all baggage and other personal property brought on premises by a guest in order to satisfy unpaid charges for the room, accommodations, and other items or services furnished at the request of the guest (NCGS 44A-2 (b)).

Chapter 130A, Article 8 – Food and Lodging Facilities

Lodging establishments in North Carolina must obtain an annual permit from the State Health Department. Hotels and motels are subject to health and sanitation standards adopted by the NC Public Health Commission. These standards are enforced by inspections conducted by the local county health department.

Whenever an inspection of a lodging establishment is made, a grade card is issued. The owner or operator is responsible for keeping the grade card posted and readily visible.

The sanitation grading of all lodging establishments is based on the following scoring system: all establishments receiving a score of at least 90 percent are awarded Grade A; all establishments receiving a score of at least 80 percent and less than 90 percent are awarded Grade B; all establishments receiving a score of at least 70 percent and less than 80 percent are awarded Grade C. No establishment receiving a score of less than 70 percent, or Grade C, may operate.

Swimming Pools

A hotel that operates a swimming pool for its guests must obtain an operation permit from the State Health Department. Requirements for a permit include plan review and approval, water supply, design details, chemicals, filters, maintenance, and fences. For more information, please contact your local health department.

Chapter 18B - ABC Commission – Permits and Rules

The ABC Commission issues permits for sale of beer, wine, and mixed beverages, and for other related alcohol service. Hotels are authorized to apply for the following permits:

- On-premises malt beverage
- Off-premises malt beverage
- On-premises unfortified wine
- On-premises fortified wine
- Mixed beverages
- Brown bagging
- Special occasion
- Culinary
- Mixed beverage catering
- Wine-tasting
- Malt beverage tasting
- Guest room cabinet

Brown bagging – To qualify as a hotel for a brown bagging or a mixed beverages permit, or a malt beverage permit in areas approving on-premises malt beverages, an establishment must have on or closely associated with its premises a full-service restaurant providing at least 36 seats. The restaurant may or may not be owned by the same person who owns the hotel.

Guest Room Cabinet Permits – A guest room cabinet permit authorizes a hotel to sell malt beverages, unfortified wine, fortified wine, and spirituous liquor to its room guests from securely locked cabinets. The hotel must designate and maintain at least 10% of the permittee's guest rooms as rooms that do not have a guest room cabinet. A permittee may dispense alcoholic beverages from a guest room cabinet only in accordance with written policies and procedures filed with and approved by the Commission.

Managers' Receptions – Hotels operating lodging, restaurant, and lounge facilities under one set of ABC permits may offer lodging guests up to two alcoholic beverages per guest per day in the price of the room package under the following conditions:

- The reception or social hour is held on the licensed premises of the hotel
- The hotel issues a voucher or other proof of guest registration for the beverages that can be used by the guest to obtain the beverage of choice
- Nonalcoholic beverages must also be offered to lodging guests during the function
- The hotel must account for the beverages by an internal accounting procedure to ensure that the price of each beverage included in the room rate package is the same price as is being charged other patrons in the lounge or restaurant for the same beverage. This procedure must be acceptable to the ABC Commission.

Appendix

Appendix A: Employee Handbook Guidance

Must-Haves

Disclaimer – The first page of the employee handbook should be a disclaimer, which provides that the handbook is merely a guideline and not a contract of employment. Typically, the disclaimer should stand out and clearly state that the employer has the right to amend, modify, revoke, and interpret the policies in the handbook at its sole discretion. It should further state that the policies are not meant to modify the at-will status of employment.

To avoid implied contract claims, employers should issue only general statements of policy in employee handbooks and should always include an explicit statement reserving the right to alter, amend, or change any handbook policy at any time and for any reason.

In keeping with North Carolina's employment at-will standard, the North Carolina courts have generally declined to support or enforce implied contract claims that are based on an employer's *unilateral* publication and distribution of an employee handbook or policy manual. *Roberts v. Wake Forest University,* 286 S.E.2d 120 (NC Ct. App. 1982)).

Introduction – The introduction is an important part of the employee handbook, not so much for legal reasons, but from a practical standpoint. This is often one of the company's first opportunities to welcome the employee. First impressions are important, and the introduction to the employee handbook should describe the company and its mission, values, and beliefs. While an employer should not attempt to include the entire business philosophy in the handbook, it should include a few key statements so that the employee can learn about the company from the very beginning. At a minimum, the employer should include the mission statement and a brief description of the employee's role in fulfilling that mission. The introduction may also include a brief statement of the company's history and accomplishments. Oftentimes, the introduction is in the form of a letter from the restaurant's owner. This is a nice touch that adds a personal feel to the process and can help connect employees to the company.

Equal Employment Opportunity – Every handbook should include a brief outline of the company's policy with respect to equal employment. From a legal standpoint, the equal employment opportunity policy serves to put employees and managers on notice that discrimination will not be tolerated. In addition, absence of an equal employment policy could send an unintended message to the employees that the employer is not concerned with diversity or nondiscrimination, as an example. If you are required to maintain an affirmative action plan, that fact should be included, but it is unnecessary to include the entire plan. The following is an example of a very basic equal opportunity statement:

XYZ Restaurant is an Equal Opportunity Employer. We will extend opportunities and benefits to employees without regard to race, religion, color, sex, national origin, age, disability, handicaps, or veterans' status. This policy confirms XYZ's commitment to fair employment and the elimination of discriminatory practices that might exist. Once the introductory materials are completed, the employee handbook should then address the general employment policies of the company. The following topics are a few employment policies that are especially important in the restaurant industry.

Attendance Policy – Attendance policies are a vital part of any employee handbook and can be especially important in the service industry. No manager wants to be regularly understaffed during important hours of operation such as weekends and peak dining hours.

While attendance policies are complicated by laws and regulations, such as the Family Medical Leave Act, it is nonetheless a good idea to include a complete, yet concise statement about attendance. This policy can be used to ensure that there are no misunderstandings about expectations of attendance and punctuality.

In addition, as restaurant employees, especially servers, regularly swap shifts or wish to have shifts "picked up" by other employees, the attendance policy should include proper protocol. For example:

Employees are expected to arrive at work prior to their scheduled start time and be at their workstation and ready to begin working by the scheduled start time.

All time off or schedule changes must be requested and approved by a manager, in writing, in advance. XYZ views attendance as one of the most important facets of your job. All unapproved absences will be noted in the employee's personnel file. Excessive absences or tardiness will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

You may also want to require a written request for shift changes that includes the initials of the employee requesting the shift change, the employee agreeing to work the shift, and the manager approving the request. The policy should state that the original employee scheduled is responsible for the scheduled shift until these steps have been completed. Ensure that attendance and shift change policies are applied consistently to your entire workforce, as any disparities can lead to allegations of discrimination.

Dress Code – The requirement for a dress code will also vary by company and job. Most hospitality businesses require uniforms for front-of-the-house employees, and safety requirements may govern the uniforms and dress code of kitchen employees. The dress code should be described clearly in the handbook. The policy should clearly set forth requirements for those employees that are in contact with customers and will generally include standards for dress, hygiene, and attitude.

While the hospitality business might provide at least part of the uniform, hygiene is of utmost importance. The policy should include a statement with respect to hair length or style and a statement that clothes should be clean and neat, hands should be clean, and fingernails cut and free of dirt. With respect to "back of the house" employees, the dress code should address issues relating to safety, such as not wearing loose-fitting clothes; wearing hairnets or hats; and wearing closed-toe, slip-resistant shoes at all times.

Safety and Accident Rules – Having a set safety policy is especially important in the hospitality industry. Although the handbook will generally refer to other documents such as postings and extensive safety manuals, it is important to reference the safety policies in the handbook. The

handbook should also reference additional resources and training that the company provides relating to safety. It is also a good idea to hold periodic training with respect to safety issues.

Anti-substance Abuse – Drug or alcohol abuse can be a serious and dangerous problem in any workplace. It is a good idea to clearly state your policy, requirements for testing and disciplinary action if you test employees, and any recovery or confidential employee assistance programs (EAPs) offered by the company.

Alcohol Service Policy – An effective alcohol service policy must set forth steps for monitoring customer consumption, procedures for ensuring that customers do not become intoxicated, and steps for handling an alcohol-related incident. Employees must also be instructed not to serve minors and must be prohibited from consuming alcohol while working.

If your restaurant or bar allows employees to consume alcohol following shifts, then the rules governing post-shift consumption should be clearly set forth in the policy. For example, some restaurants and bars require employees to leave the establishment following their shift but allow them to return out of uniform if they wish to dine or consume alcohol. Other restaurants and bars prohibit any employee from consuming alcohol at the workplace because of the potential for abuse.

No-harassment Policy – As recent litigation rates undoubtedly indicate, harassment, specifically sexual harassment, is a serious issue for the hospitality industry and other employers. An employee handbook must include a statement that harassment is illegal and will not be tolerated by the employer. The handbook must also include definitions and descriptions of conduct that is prohibited under the policy, disciplinary action that will be taken against harassers, a complaint procedure, assurance that all complaints will be confidential and will be promptly investigated, and assurance that there will be no retaliation against a person who files a complaint.

Because an employee's knowledge of the policy and complaint procedures is so vital if litigation does ensue, employers should also have each employee sign a separate acknowledgement that the employee has read and understands the no-harassment policy. The signed statement should be kept in the employee's personnel file. Employers should also make sure that managers and supervisors are aware of and trained in all aspects of the no-harassment policy, including participating in training at time of hire and at periodic intervals, thereafter, learning how to address complaints, and being trained on their role in conducting investigations.

Tip Reporting Policy – The wage and hour and tax implications that apply to tipped employees make it important to have a written policy governing reporting and treatment of tips received by employees. This policy should include an acknowledgment that the employee is required by the IRS to report all tips received from customers. The policy should further state that if the tips reported by all tipped employees do not equal a legally required percentage of total sales, the employer will allocate the difference between the tips reported and that percentage of sales as additional income to each employee who underreported tip income.

The tip reporting policy should also address the wage and hour implications of tipped employees. Employees need to know that tips are included in the wages of the employee for purposes of calculating their minimum wage. If your restaurant has tip-pooling arrangements among employees, that should be included in the employee handbook as well. An employer needs to be very careful, however, regarding which employees are included in the tip pool to avoid a violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Fraternization Policy – Employers should consider including a policy prohibiting fraternization among supervisors and their subordinates. Supervisors and subordinates should be prohibited from engaging in a romantic relationship and any other type of personal relationship outside the restaurant. This policy is essential to preventing perceptions of favoritism and potential claims of harassment if a relationship between a supervisor and subordinate ends.

Additional Guidelines to Consider Including in Your Employee Handbook

Use of Company Property – Although not as common in the restaurant industry, a policy about company property is something employers may want to include (for example, that uniforms provided by the company must be returned at the end of employment).

Group Insurance Benefits – Make a summary reference to your insurance benefits and eligibility. Then direct the employees to the details in a separate benefits handbook that may be provided by the insurance provider.

Short-term Disability – If you provide a short-term disability benefit, you will want to mention it in the employee handbook; but again, because the rules are complicated, refer to a more detailed document.

Continuation of Medical Care/COBRA – If you employ 20 or more persons, the law requires that, under most circumstances, you provide continuation of medical/healthcare benefits to employees who leave the company. This policy should be outlined in the employee handbook.

Workers' Compensation – Your business likely is required to have workers' compensation insurance. Make sure that your employee handbook contains the proper notices as required by state law. (For more information, see page 13?)

In addition, you should include other policies and benefits provided to employees including maternity leave, funeral leave, jury duty, military service, and tuition reimbursement policies.